FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/25/2021 9:53 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/26/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100123-1

Court of Appeals No. 81661-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEENA BEAN et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE et ano.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert A. Peccola* FL Bar No. 88772 INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE 901 North Glebe Road Suite 900 Arlington, VA 22203 (703) 682-9323 William R. Maurer WSBA No. 25451 INSTITUTE FOR JUSTICE 600 University Street Suite 1730 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 957-1300

Counsel for Petitioners

^{*}Admitted pro hac vice

I. INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic has made Washingtonians spend more time at home than ever—work, leisure, and family combine in one personal space. This case is about the privacy of that space—and asks whether residents of this state may be free from government-mandated, warrantless, nonconsensual inspections conducted by ostensibly private inspectors that nonetheless act as agents of the government.

Fourteen years ago, this Court held that local governments may force unwanted inspections on tenants without a warrant so long as the inspector invading a tenant's privacy was a private actor. *City of Pasco v. Shaw*, 161 Wn.2d 450, 166 P.3d 1157 (2007). The time has come to revisit that decision for two reasons. First, local governments, like Seattle, have exceeded *City of Pasco*'s boundaries to the point where ostensibly private actors are anything but. This leaves the privacy of millions of Washingtonians subject to nonconsensual, warrantless inspections in violation of the words and spirit of article I, § 7 of the Washington Constitution. Second, developments in Washington privacy jurisprudence

¹ Gene Falk, Nearly half of Seattle-area adults working from home because of COVID—here's who is and isn't hitting the road, The Seattle Times (Sept. 28, 2020), available at https://tinyurl.com/528r3m25 ("[T]elework has had a far greater impact on workers in some parts of the country than in others. Seattle is near the top among the nation's largest metro areas for the switch to remote work since the pandemic.").

since that time have strengthened and reinforced constitutional protections for home privacy, a development that directly contradicts the approach of *City of Pasco*. Deciding whether inspectors are government agents here will align the law with those developments.

In considering Petitioners' claims, the courts below were "bound to follow" *City of Pasco* to determine when privately employed inspectors cease being independent and become government actors subject to article I, § 7 of the Washington Constitution. *See Bean v. City of Seattle*, No. 81661-6-I, 2021 WL 3144946, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. July 26, 2021). This Court has no such restriction. It should reconsider *City of Pasco* because it erodes tenant privacy. It blurs the line between government agents reporting to the state and private parties dealing only with one another. As the city of Seattle's actions here show, the standards it set are ambiguous and easily capable of manipulation. This is not meaningless alarmism. *City of Pasco* opened the door for the first, third, and sixth largest Washington cities to have mandatory rental inspection regimes—applicable to more than 1.2 million people—conducted by inspectors who are private in name only.³

² Petitioners preserved their argument that *City of Pasco* was wrongly decided in the trial and appellate courts. *See* CP 259 n.7 ("*City of Pasco* was wrongly decided and should be overturned."); Br. of Appellants 24 ("*City of Pasco* was wrongly decided because it allowed trespass without consent and without a search warrant.").

³ See Tacoma Municipal Code § 6B.165.090(B)(3) (stating that if a property owner uses a private inspector and a selected unit fails the initial inspection, both the

When this Court's jurisprudence leads to public policy that directly undermines a fundamental constitutional protection, only this Court can fix that error and reestablish clear constitutional boundaries for local governments. That is precisely what Petitioners ask for here.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are a coalition of Seattle tenants and landlords who filed a class-action lawsuit against the state of Washington (the "State") and the city of Seattle (the "City" or "Seattle," and together, "Respondents")⁴ when they were threatened with warrantless searches of their homes under Seattle's Rental Registration and Inspection Ordinance (the "RRIO," Seattle Municipal Code ("SMC") §§ 22.214 *et seq.*) and the enabling legislation, RCW 59.18.125, a portion of the State's Residential Landlord Tenant Act (the "Act").

results of the initial inspection and any certificate of inspection must be provided to the city); Tukwila Municipal Code § 5.06.050(E) ("The code official shall audit Inspection Checklists submitted by private inspectors. . ."); Kent Municipal Code § 10.02.070 (requiring private inspectors turn over inspection results) Bellingham Municipal Code § 6.15.050 (same). *But see, e.g.*, Spokane Municipal Code § 17C.316 (limiting rental regulation to short-term rentals); Vancouver Municipal Code § 22.02.020 (spelling out code compliance, but not requiring proactive inspections).

⁴ King County Superior Court Case No. 18-2-56192-2.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in *Bean v. City of Seattle*, No. 81661-6-I, 2021 WL 3144946 (Wash. Ct. App. July 26, 2021), which affirmed the trial court's dismissal on the pleadings. This ruling terminated review. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-2 through A-13.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Should this Court accept review to determine whether *City of Pasco* follows this Court's interpretation of article I, § 7?
- B. Should this Court accept review to determine the scope of municipalities' ability to condition the exercise of article I, § 7 rights?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Article I, § 7 of the Washington Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." "In contrast to the Fourth Amendment, article I, section 7 emphasizes protecting personal rights rather than curbing governmental actions." *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d 169, 180, 233 P.3d 879 (2010) (cleaned up).

With this principle in mind, Petitioners describe below: (A) Seattle's prior, unconstitutional, inspection program; (B) the genesis of Seattle's RRIO program and its relationship to this Court's decisions; (C) the

mechanics of RRIO's warrantless inspections; (D) how the City relies on privately employed inspectors; (E) the procedural history of the litigation below; and (F) the decisions below regarding article I, § 7.

Because the trial court granted motions to dismiss, facts drawn from the allegations in Petitioners' complaint are presumed to be true.

A. This Court Strikes Down Seattle's 1990s Inspection Program in *McCready*.

This Court invalidated Seattle's pre-RRIO inspection regime in *City* of Seattle v. McCready 123 Wn.2d 260, 271, 868 P.2d 134 (1994). The Court held that warrantless, nonconsensual, government rental inspections always violate article I, § 7. 123 Wn.2d at 271 ("Seattle does not claim, nor could it, that a non-consensual inspection of residential apartments is not a disturbance of 'private affairs' under Const. art. 1, § 7.").

Seattle implemented a complaint-based system after *McCready*. *See* Tom Byers & Claire Powers, *Improving Rental Housing Conditions in Seattle: Issues and Options* 6 (2008). In 2007, however, *City of Pasco* gave Seattle, and every other Washington municipality, the ability to mandate warrantless, nonconsensual searches of tenants' homes by permitting "private" inspectors to conduct such an invasion.

B. City of Pasco Opened the Door for Seattle to Pass RRIO.

City of Pasco introduced the idea that if the search was not done by state actors, it was not subject to constitutional limitation. 161 Wn.2d at 460–61. In Pasco, private—rather than City-employed—inspectors conducted the warrantless, nonconsensual, mandatory inspections. The Court asked (1) whether the government knew of and acquiesced in the private inspections, and (2) whether landlords hiring private inspectors intended to assist government efforts or to further their own ends. *Id.* at 460. A narrowly divided Court held that private inspectors who did not turn their results in to the city were not state actors. *Id.* at 462.

Armed with *City of Paco's* public/private distinction, Seattle passed RRIO in 2013, requiring landlords to submit their properties to inspection by city or private inspectors. SMC § 22.214.040, .050.C.

C. RRIO Inspections Are Invasive, Non-consensual, and Warrantless.

RRIO inspections are mandatory for both tenants and landlords. SMC § 22.214.050.H.1.d. Seattle instructs tenants that they cannot deny access for the inspection. CP 126, 131, 209–10. RRIO inspections by their very nature invade "private affairs." Inspectors enter intimate partners' bedrooms and children's rooms without parental consent. CP 205.

Inspectors can also view religious, political, medical, and other personal tenant information. CP 205–06.

Although the Act permits Seattle to obtain a search warrant if it wants to, Seattle has never sought a warrant since adopting RRIO. CP 210. Instead, Seattle requires landlords to coercively obtain tenant consent. SMC § 22.214.075.D. The property owner is fined up to \$500 a day if they honor a tenant's right to deny an inspection. SMC § 22.214.086.A.

D. RRIO's Use of Privately Employed Inspectors.

At first, RRIO did not require privately employed inspectors to provide failed inspections results to Seattle. But in 2010, the Legislature—contradicting *City of Pasco*—amended the Act to *require* municipalities to collect private inspection reports. *See* RCW 59.18.125(6)(e) ("If a rental property owner chooses to hire a qualified [private] inspector . . . and a selected unit of the rental property fails the initial inspection . . . the results of the initial inspection . . . must be provided to the local municipality."). In 2016, pursuant to the Act, Seattle amended the RRIO and forced private inspectors to provide inspection results to the city, which then audits the reports to select additional units for inspection. SMC § 22.214.050.J.

This is a problem because Seattle treats private inspectors as an arm of city government. The City "views the relationship with Private Inspectors as a *partnership*" with "[s]hared investment in the success of the RRIO

Program." CP 208, 271 (emphasis added). Seattle coaches privately employed inspectors how to communicate government information to tenants—including access to city services. CP 208, 273. "Private" inspectors should expect to "get questions about access to City services." *Id.* In other words, Seattle claims that these inspectors are private, even though the City tells them what to do, say, and report.

E. Procedural Summary.

On December 4, 2018, faced with imminent inspections under this program, Petitioners sued, challenging the constitutionality of the portion of the Act requiring inspection reporting and RRIO's warrantless inspection requirements. Petitioners alleged that the challenged portions of the Act and RRIO were unconstitutional—both on their face and as applied. CP 9–11, 66–69, 77. The trial court dismissed the State in 2019 and dismissed the amended complaint against the City in 2020, entering final judgment on February 28, 2020.

Petitioners filed a Statement of Grounds for Direct Review in this Court on March 10, 2010. On July 8, 2020, this Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision affirming the judgment on July 26, 2021.

F. The Rulings Below.

Both the City and the State moved to dismiss. The trial courts recognized the tension between *City of Pasco* and article I, § 7. The Court of Appeals, on the other hand, assumed that merely calling something "private" means it is private. Petitioners discuss these decisions next.

1. The State's Motion.

The trial court acknowledged that actual implementation of the State's Act was problematic—but that constitutional application was possible. At a March 29, 2019 motion to dismiss hearing, the trial court noted that the Act "tell[ing] the city what [reports] to be turned over," is inconsistent with *City of Pasco*. RP 14:14–25. Nevertheless, the trial court dismissed the State, reasoning a hypothetical city could limit inspections to instances "when the unit is empty before it's been rented." *Id*. 43:11–44:16.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, describing that Act as "open to alternative means of constitutional compliance than a specific implementation of that authorization by a municipality such as the City." *Bean*, 2021 WL 3144946, at *5. The court also rejected Petitioners' argument that the challenged portion of the Act, on its face, "authorizes" warrantless searches in violation of *City of Los Angeles v. Patel*, 576 U.S. 409, 418, 135 S. Ct. 2443, 192 L. Ed.2d 435 (2015). *Id.* at *4, n.1.

2. Seattle Amends RRIO in Response to this Lawsuit.

Following dismissal of the State and the denial of its own motion to dismiss, the City amended RRIO in June 2019 purportedly "to conform to the Pasco ordinance that was upheld as constitutional in" *City of Pasco*. CP 224. Under the 2019 RRIO, if a landlord chooses to hire a privately employed inspector, they must either obtain inspections of "100 percent of the rental housing units on the property" or else "both the results of the initial inspection and any certificate of compliance must be provided to the Department" if a unit fails inspection. SMC § 22.214.050.J. So, all tenants must submit to a sweep of the entire apartment building—and landlords must pay multiple fees—if they wish the inspection to be what *City of Pasco* deemed private. CP 207.

In response to this encroachment on their privacy, Petitioners added a claim that Seattle's 2019 RRIO violates the "unconstitutional conditions" doctrine by making the choice to exercise their article I, § 7 rights subject to government burdens. Petitioners also alleged that Seattle trains its privately employed inspectors to be government representatives in a handson way that Pasco did not.

3. The Trial Court Dismisses Seattle, and the Court of Appeals Affirms.

Seattle contended that its program was indistinguishable from Pasco's in a Second Motion to Dismiss. On January 24, 2020, the trial court reluctantly dismissed the City, but noted "concerns about *Pasco*." RP 91:4–20. The Court of Appeals affirmed, rejecting Petitioners' claim that "Pasco's inspection ordinance preserved the independence of private inspectors to a far greater degree than RRIO." *Bean*, 2021 WL 3144946, at *4. The court reasoned that "Justice Sanders's dissent in *Pasco* noted the need for approval of private inspectors This shows that that the same argument was made to the *Pasco* court and was rejected." *Id*.

The Court did not discuss the contours of unconstitutional conditions because it found no underlying constitutional violation. *Id*.

VI. ARGUMENT

City of Pasco is an anomaly in this Court's privacy jurisprudence. Cases both before and after City of Pasco afford much more protection for home privacy. This anomaly has left the privacy rights of more than a million Washingtonians at the mercy of how creative municipalities can get in fashioning inspection regimes using "private" inspections. The application of article I, § 7 to warrantless, nonconsensual home inspections

by so-called private inspectors needs to be reexamined and brought in line with other privacy jurisprudence.

Petitioners will show that this case satisfies two grounds for review. First, *City of Pasco* conflicts with this Court's robust interpretation of article I, § 7, creating a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Second, and relatedly, it "involves an issue of substantial public interest"—warrantless inspection regimes with burdensome conditions supposedly sanctioned by *City of Pasco* that are becoming commonplace in this state. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Standard for Overturning Precedent.

This Court "can reconsider [its] precedent not only when it has been shown to be incorrect and harmful but also when the legal underpinnings of our precedent have changed or disappeared altogether." *Chong Yim v. City of Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 651, 668, 451 P.3d 675 (2019) (citation omitted) (overruling prior cases). The record here shows that *City of Pasco* is harmful and that later cases compromise its legal underpinnings.

B. City of Pasco's Unworkable Framework is a Significant Question of Law Under the Washington Constitution.

Plaintiffs will show that (1) *City of Pasco* contemplates further judicial review on its face; and (2) the weight of authority from this Court merits new analysis of *City of Pasco's* state action doctrine.

1. City of Pasco Was Sharply Divided and Contemplated Further Consideration.

City of Pasco deviated from article I, § 7 even when it was decided. Many justices indicated the need for cautious application and for further judicial review. That has never occurred—and needs to.

From the outset, *City of Pasco* acknowledged that "[w]hether state action has occurred depends on the circumstances of a given case." *City of Pasco*, 161 Wn.2d at 460. Four justices illuminated the need for further review by this Court. Justice Sanders and Justice James Johnson dissented because Pasco inspectors were "approved by the city" and were thus state actors. *Id.* at 467 (Sanders, J., dissenting). The dissent predicted that loss of liberty would flow from warrantless rental inspections: "[I]f evidence is seen in plain view indicating a criminal violation by the tenant, this could also be used to support issuance of a criminal search warrant and subsequent prosecution of the tenant. Obviously this is state action." *Id.* at 469. This is precisely what the City admitted occurs below. RP 61:15–21.

Justice Chambers and Chief Justice Alexander "cautiously concur[red]," noting that "we should always be skeptical when any government seeks to invade any person's home, no matter how well meaning." 161 Wn.2d at 464 (Chambers, J. concurring). They presumed, however, that cities would do something crucial that Seattle does not do—

get a search warrant for non-consensual inspections: "[I]nspection of an occupied unit . . . should be done with the tenant's consent or by court order or arbitrator; anything less runs the risk of violating . . . article I, section 7."

Id. at 466. City of Pasco would require further analysis "if and when inspections go beyond reasonable inspections for housing code violations."

Id. The concurrence warned that if "inspectors function like the eyes and ears of the State, looking for suspicious activities, they will become government agents." Id. (citation omitted).

The decisions below manifest these concurring justices' concerns. Under the Act, Seattle—and any Washington city—can now train inspectors to conduct warrantless searches and report back to the government. They can also vest inspectors with the discretion to call the police on tenants based on their subjective observations of criminal activity. Under *City of Pasco*, this self-evident governmental action is considered "private." This cannot stand under article I, § 7.5

⁵ At the very least, even if this Court does not overturn *City of Pasco*, it should clearly define the boundaries of what a private actor is, per Justice Chambers's concurrence. Again, Seattle's ordinance is more invasive than Pasco's and merits independent consideration even if *City of Pasco* is settled. Pasco's inspection ordinance allows landlords to select private inspectors that meet independent certification requirements. Pasco Municipal Code § 5.60.030(3). Seattle, in contrast, trains inspectors and "views the relationship with Private Inspectors as a *partnership*." CP 208, 271; (emphasis added).

2. City of Pasco Conflicts with Both Long Settled and More Recent Article I, § 7 Cases and Scholarship.

City of Pasco is not on solid jurisprudential footing with predecessor home privacy cases. In McCready, this Court quashed rental-inspection search warrants because they did not contain "the authority of law necessary to justify Seattle's intrusion into appellants' private affairs." 123 Wn.2d at 271. Inspectors "possess the authority to intrude upon the privacy of the home regardless of the occupant's wishes." Id. at 278 (citation omitted). "It is entirely appropriate" this Court reasoned, "that so powerful a tool of governmental authority be carefully circumscribed." Id. The Court found no authorization "by the state constitution to issue search warrants on less than probable cause in the absence of a statute or court rule." Id. at 273.

The RRIO that Seattle adopted following *McCready* is not "circumscribed" by the guardrails of a warrant procedure. *McCready* did not contemplate that a completely warrantless inspection regime would take the place of a warrant-based inspections with no legal authority.

This is an object lesson in how *City of Pasco* undermined *McCready*. *City of Pasco* purported to preserve Washington's ban on warrantless inspections—but carved out a constitutional dead zone when the people doing the inspections could be classified as private inspectors. The government seized on the ambiguous, shifting boundaries of this dead

zone in two ways—pushing what is private further and further under government control; and defending these programs in court because they feature ostensibly private inspectors, thus fitting within *City of Pasco*. This was not what *City of Pasco* said municipalities could do. It is, however, what the concurrence and dissent said would happen. The lack of clear lines allows the government to incrementally encroach on privacy protections with each new inspection regime so long as they can waive the talisman of "private inspector" in enacting and defending them.

Unlike the erosion of privacy in inspection programs, every Washington case since *City of Pasco* reflects this Court's strong, independent interpretation of Washingtonians' home privacy. This Court rejected the federal "private search" doctrine—specifically, reports of suspected drug activity by a repairman—because "article I, § 7 . . . requires a warrant before any search, reasonable or not." *State v. Eisfeldt*, 163 Wn.2d 628, 634, 185 P.3d 580 (2008). In *State v. Winterstein*, 167 Wn.2d 620, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009), the Court held that even a convicted meth dealer on probation had more home privacy under article I, § 7 than the Fourth

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