FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/24/2021 2:13 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100123-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEENA BEAN, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE and STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ANDREW HUGHES, WSBA #49515
Assistant Attorney General
OID No. 91157
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104-3188
(206) 464-7744
Andrew.Hughes@atg.wa.gov
Attorney for Respondent State of
Washington

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Petitioners Fail to Raise a Significant Issue of Law Concerning the Residential Inspection Act because its Constitutionality Does Not Turn on *City of Pasco*

Petitioners' claims against the State fail at the outset because even if this Court *did* overturn *City of Pasco*, that would not change the results below. Both the superior court and the Court of Appeals rejected Petitioners' facial challenge to the RIA

not because of *City of Pasco*'s holding regarding the state action doctrine, but because Petitioners could not carry their burden to "show that the [statute] is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt and there are no factual circumstances under which the [statute] could be constitutional." *City of Pasco*, 161 Wn.2d at 458 (citing *Citizens for Responsible Wildlife Mgmt. v. State*, 149 Wn.2d 622, 631, 71 P.3d 644 (2003) and *Bergeson*, 141 Wn.2d at 221); RP at 44–45; A-12.

This conclusion—which Petitioners do not dispute—stems from numerous provisions in the RIA that protect non-consenting tenants from inspections. For example, in most circumstances, the RIA only permits municipalities to require inspections of a maximum of 20% of units in any property, meaning that where one tenant refuses to consent to a search, the landlord can generally conduct an inspection of a different unit in the same building, either a vacant one or one occupied by a consenting tenant. RCW 59.18.125(6). Additionally, because "[a] local municipality may only require a certificate of

inspection on a rental property once every three years[,]" RCW 59.18.125(3), "at least some landlords will be able to conduct inspections between tenancies, thereby eliminating any tenant involvement at all." City of Pasco, 161 Wn.2d at 462 n.3. Further, in those rare cases in which tenant consent cannot be obtained, and where another unit in the same building cannot be sampled, municipalities may seek search warrants if they have probable cause to believe the unit is not fit for human occupancy. RCW 59.18.150(4). The warrant provision serves as a backstop to ensure that rental inspections under the RIA need not be conducted "without authority of law." Const. art. I, § 7; see also State v. Gaines, 154 Wn.2d 711, 718, 116 P.3d 993 (2005) (noting that searches conducted pursuant to a valid warrant do not violate article I, section 7); Garris v. City of Los Angeles, 798 F. App'x 155, 156 (9th Cir. 2020) ("Because entry upon obtaining a valid administrative warrant would not violate the Fourth Amendment, the Ordinance is not facially invalid, as it is not 'unconstitutional in all applications.") (quoting City of Los Angeles, Calif. v. Patel, 576 U.S. 409, 417, 135 S. Ct. 2443, 192 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2015)).

Thus, even if Petitioners could show that *City of Pasco* were incorrectly decided—*but see infra*—there would still be no grounds for granting their petition as against the State.

B. Petitioners Fail to Raise a Significant Issue of Law Regarding the Continuing Vitality of *City of Pasco*

The petition should also be denied for the independent reason that Petitioners come nowhere near meeting their heavy burden to overcome *stare decisis*.

1. Standard for Overturning Precedent

"A party asking this court to reject its precedent faces a challenging task." *State v. Otton*, 185 Wn.2d 673, 690, 374 P.3d 1108, 1116 (2016). "Generally, under stare decisis, [the Court] will not overturn prior precedent unless there has been a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful." *W.G. Clark Constr. Co. v. Pac. Nw. Reg'l Council of Carpenters*, 180 Wn.2d 54, 66, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014) (quotation omitted). Under this standard, "[t]he question is not whether [the Court]

would make the same decision if the issue presented were a matter of first impression[,]" but rather "whether the prior decision is so problematic that it *must* be rejected, despite the many benefits of adhering to precedent—promot[ing] the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles, foster[ing] reliance on judicial decisions, and contribut[ing] to the actual and perceived integrity of the judicial process." *Otton*, 185 Wn.2d at 678 (quotations omitted; emphasis in original).

Alternatively, "there are relatively rare occasions when a court should eschew prior precedent in deference to intervening authority." W.G. Clark, 180 Wn.2d at 66 (quotation omitted). To meet this standard, a party must show "the legal underpinnings of [this Court's] precedent have changed or disappeared altogether." Id.

2. Petitioners Ignore Half of City of Pasco

Petitioners' argument fails out of the gate because while

City of Pasco turns on two critical determinations, either one of

which was sufficient to support the Court's ultimate disposition, Petitioners challenge only one. Petitioners ignore the Court's holding that the Pasco ordinance did not violate the tenants' reasonable expectation of privacy because the RLTA "already provides that a tenant cannot unreasonably withhold consent to the landlord to enter into the rental unit in order to inspect the premises, and the act allows some third parties to accompany the landlord upon entrance." City of Pasco, 161 Wn.2d at 461 (citing Kalmas v. Wagner, 133 Wn.2d 210, 219-220, 943 P.2d 1369 (1997)). As this Court concluded, "if the scope of a landlord's entrance does not exceed the legitimate purposes contemplated by the [RLTA], no unreasonable search has occurred." *Id.* Like the Pasco ordinance, the RIA relies on landlords pre-existing right of entry, and thus does not violate any tenant's reasonable expectation of privacy. See A-11 ("A tenant's right to privacy is no more invaded by an inspection pursuant to the RRIO authorized by their landlord than any other inspection or authorized entry under the RLTA."). Petitioners' total failure to address this holding is fatal to their argument.

3. City of Pasco Was Neither Incorrectly Decided Nor Harmful

Even on the state action doctrine, Petitioners cannot satisfy either standard for overturning City of Pasco. Petitioners' argument that City of Pasco was wrongly decided is largely confined to reciting language from the two non-majority opinions and asserting that concerns raised in these minority opinions prove the majority was wrong. Pet. for Review at 13-14. But in reaching its holding in *City of Pasco*, this Court gave due weight to "article I, section 7['s]...strict privacy protections where invasion of a person's home is involved[,]" but nonetheless correctly pointed out that "unless the person conducting the inspection is a state actor, no violation of these constitutional provisions occurs." City of Pasco, 161 Wn.2d at 459. City of Pasco (like this case) concerned a facial challenge, and so the landlords there bore the burden to prove the ordinance required state action under every conceivable set of circumstances. *Id.* at 458. But because, the Pasco ordinance (like the RIA) was structured so that "[1]andlords first and foremost further their *own* ends when they engage in the inspections contemplated by the ordinance" the Court concluded "petitioners have not met their burden of showing that landlords and their privately engaged inspectors are state actors." *Id.* at 461. Petitioners offer no meaningful response to this well-reasoned conclusion, and certainly nothing to suggest that the seven Justices who concurred in the majority were clearly wrong.

Petitioners also assert that *City of Pasco* was wrongly decided because it permits "any Washington city . . . [to] train inspectors to conduct warrantless searches and report back to the government" and to "vest inspectors with the discretion to call the police on tenants based on their subjective observations of criminal activity." Pet. for Review at 14. It doesn't.

To the contrary, the Court was clear that the Pasco ordinance did not facially implicate state action because it only

permitted "a landlord [to] engage private inspectors in order to further the *private* objective of obtaining a certification needed to maintain a business license." *City of Pasco*, 161 Wn.2d at 460. If a municipality in fact conscripted a private inspector to conduct an unauthorized criminal search under the guise of a rental inspection ordinance—which would violate the RIA, RCW 59.18.125(2)¹—nothing in *City of Pasco* would prevent a tenant from raising an as-applied challenge to that search. But again, City of Pasco (and this case) concern facial challenges, meaning Petitioners must show state action occurs in every scenario, not merely under certain hypothetical conditions. Tunstall ex rel. Tunstall v. Bergeson, 141 Wn.2d 201, 220, 5 P.3d 691 (2000). They cannot do so, and thus cannot show City of Pasco was incorrectly decided.

^{1&}quot;A qualified inspector who is conducting an inspection under this section may only investigate a rental property as needed to provide a certificate of inspection." RCW 59.18.125(2).

Nor can Petitioners show *City of Pasco* is harmful. They try to make this showing by lamenting that "the first, third, and sixth[-]largest Washington cities" have adopted rental inspection scheme in reliance on *City of Pasco*. Pet. for Review at 2. But protecting reliance interests is exactly why *stare decisis* is so important. *Otton*, 185 Wn.2d at 678. Wiping out *City of Pasco* would leave the first-, third-, and sixth-largest Washington cities' efforts to protect their residents on uncertain footing, and jeopardize the safety of tenants statewide.

Petitioners further speculate that harm will flow from their (as noted above, incorrect) suggestion that *City of Pasco* permits Washington municipalities to conscript private inspectors as roving criminal investigators. Pet for Review at 14. But they do not offer a whit of evidence to suggest this is happening. This is unsurprising because, again, the RIA specifically prohibits private inspectors from investigating any further than necessary to verify the habitability of a rental unit. RCW 59.18.125(2).

Petitioners' brief before the Court of Appeals fundamentally undermines their claim of harm. According to that brief, Petitioners Heiderich and Lee's tenants refused consent to a search under RRIO, but Seattle nonetheless demanded that Heiderich and Lee submit inspection reports to obtain a Certificate of Compliance. Suppl. App. at 43–44. This is the very situation that, according to Petitioners, leads to Constitutional violations. Except it didn't. Instead, as Petitioners admit, "this dispute ended with the search of a vacant unit." Suppl. App. at 44. This is precisely how the RIA is designed to work. The statute provides municipalities and landlords a menu of options to ensure residential inspections need not burden non-consenting tenants. These features of the RIA mean that Petitioners' speculations about widespread harm are entirely misplaced.

In short, Petitioners cannot demonstrate that *City of Pasco* "is so incorrect and harmful that it would be unreasonable to adhere to it." *Otton*, 185 Wn.2d at 690.

4. The Legal Underpinning of *City of Pasco*—the State Action Doctrine—Remains Sound

Nor can Petitioners succeed in their alternative argument that "the legal underpinnings of" City of Pasco "have changed or disappeared altogether." W.G. Clark, 180 Wn.2d at 66 (quotation omitted). Petitioners purport to make this showing by noting that Washington courts before and after City of Pasco have closely guarded the privacy of individuals' homes from State encroachment. Pet. for Review at 15–18. But the City of Pasco decision itself recognized that "article I, section 7 provide[s] strict privacy protections where invasion of a person's home is involved." City of Pasco, 161 Wn.2d at 459. As the Court explained, however, this did not answer the question before it because, "unless the person conducting the inspection is a state actor, no violation of these constitutional provisions occurs." Id. The "legal underpinnings" of this holding—that article I, section 7 only applies to state action, and/or that state action turns on "whether the party performing the search intended to assist law

enforcement efforts or to further his [or her] own ends[,]" City of Pasco, 161 Wn.2d at 460 (quotation omitted; emphasis and alterations in original)—have not changed at all. Petitioners appear to concede as much by their silence on this point. Accordingly, they cannot show that the bases for the Court's holding have disappeared or fundamentally altered such that this Court is compelled to revisit its prior holding. See Deggs v. Asbestos Corp. Ltd., 186 Wn.2d 716, 732, 381 P.3d 32 (2016).

C. Overturning *City of Pasco* Is Not an Issue of Statewide Importance

Petitioners' "statewide importance" argument turns on their view that *City of Pasco* and the RIA permit municipalities to implement "unconstitutional rental inspection regime[s]." Pet. for Review at 18. This is simply not so, as the Court of Appeals correctly found. A-12 (rejecting argument that the RIA "makes municipal compliance with the state constitution optional" because "the statute does not require municipalities to violate the constitution, nor does it permit them to conduct

government searches without warrants.") (citing RCW 59.18.125, .150). Moreover, even assuming tenants had a constitutional right to exclude private inspectors hired by their landlords—again, *but see supra* at § III.B.2.—nothing in the RIA necessarily creates a burden, for the landlord or tenant, where a tenant withholds consent to a search. Instead, as detailed above, municipalities have any number of options to accommodate non-consenting tenants.

Petitioners contend there are "unresolved" questions regarding the applicability of the unconstitutional conditions doctrine, Pet. for Review at 18, but the Court of Appeals in fact squarely addressed their arguments—it simply found them lacking. Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded Petitioners' argument failed at the threshold under *both* this Court's dual holdings in *City of Pasco* A-10–11. But for all the

reasons detailed above, Petitioners cannot show that *City of Pasco* was wrongly decided.²

IV. CONCLUSION

Petitioners obviously oppose residential rental inspections as a policy matter, but their policy arguments are better directed to the Legislature. They do not present a significant question of constitutional law nor an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). This Court should deny review.

²And again, Petitioners do not even challenge the second *City of Pasco* holding that residential inspections do not invade tenant privacy rights because they are within the scope of landlord access already permitted under the RLTA. As the Court of Appeals explained, this holding foreclosed Petitioners' unconstitutional conditions argument. A-10–11 (holding Petitioners "ha[d] not demonstrated that a privacy right has been violated" because "[a] tenant's right to privacy is no more invaded by an inspection pursuant to the RRIO authorized by their landlord than any other inspection or authorized entry under the RLTA").